IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA FEB - 1999 -



011

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Supreme Court Case No. 72,255

v.

ELLIS S. RUBIN,

Respondent.

- /

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

PAUL A. GROSS Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 211 Rivergate Plaza 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

AND OF THE FACTS

On December 7, 1987, Grievance Committee "E" of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit conducted a hearing concerning Ellis S. Rubin and recommended that Rubin be given a Private Reprimand for violating the following Disciplinary Rules of the Code of Professional Responsibility: 1-102(A)(5), conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice, 7-106(A), a lawyer shall not disregard a standing rule of a tribunal or a ruling of the tribunal, 2-110(A)(1), a lawyer shall not withdraw from employment in a proceeding before a tribunal without its permission.

On January 4, 1988, Rubin was mailed the Report of Minor Misconduct. However, on January 14, 1988, Rubin rejected the report and demanded a trial before a Referee. In addition, Rubin waived confidentiality. (T. 4). On September 2, 1988, a trial was conducted before J. Cail Lee, the Referee. The Referee recommended that Rubin be found not guilty.

The facts in this case are not disputed. The respondent, in his Answer and Response to Request for Admissions, admitted to the allegations made in the complaint of Minor Misconduct, except for Paragraph 17, which alleges the violations.

Judicial Notice was taken of the exhibits attached to the complaint. (T. 16, lines 19-25 and T. 17, lines 1-7)

The facts have been succinctly stated in <u>Sanborn v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 309 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), a copy of the opinion is attached to the complaint, as Exhibit C-2.

The facts in brief form, are as follows:

Russell J. Sanborn was charged with first degree murder and a number of other crimes. However, he had problems with his lawyers. From April 1984 to February 1985, he had been represented by three lawyers and he had requested Ellis Rubin to be his fourth defense counsel. Rubin had been retained by Sanborn's mother without a fee. The trial judge agreed to substitute Rubin as defense counsel, as Rubin represented he would be ready for trial on April 29, 1985.

On April 25-26, 1985, Rubin discovered that his client planned on committing perjury. Based on this, Rubin petitioned the court on April 29, 1985, just prior to jury selection, to withdraw as defense counsel. His client did not oppose the withdrawal. The court denied Rubin's Motion to Withdraw and ordered him to proceed to trial. Rubin appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal, and it stayed the proceedings pending its decision.

In the case of <u>Sanborn v. Florida</u>, **474** So.2d 309 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) the appellate court made it clear that a defense counsel must not aid a defendant in giving perjured testimony and must also refuse to present testimony of witnesses that he knows

is fabricated. However, the court stated, when the defense counsel is unable to dissuade his client from committing perjury, counsel should request permission to withdraw. If permission to withdraw is denied, counsel must continue to serve.

The Third District Court of Appeal recognized that Rubin was placed in a serious dilemma between his role as an advocate and as a guardian of the integrity of the judicial system.

In the way of dicta, the Court suggested a formula which would preserve the sanctity of the tribunal and the ethical standards that Rubin, as an officer of the court, has vowed to uphold. The court stated:

The procedure most often sanctioned in this situation is to allow the defendant to take the stand and deliver his statement in narrative form: the defendant's attorney does not elicit the perjurious testimony by questioning nor argue the false testimony during closing argument.

The Third District Court of Appeal held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Rubin's Motion to Withdraw. Rubin was again ordered by the trial court to proceed with the trial. When he refused, he was held in direct criminal contempt of court and sentenced to serve thirty (30) days in jail for his contemptuous conduct. [See Exhibit C-3 which is attached to the complaint.] The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the decision of the trial court and Rubin did serve the thirty (30) days in the Dade County jail. [See <u>Rubin v. State</u>, 490 So.2d 1001 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986) which is attached to the complaint as Exhibit C-4].

On December 19, 1988, this court denied Rubin's Petition for Review and Writ of Habeas Corpus. On January 16, 1987, this Court denied Rubin's Petition for Rehearing for Writ of Habeas Corpus.

On or about June 22, 1987, the United States Supreme Court denied Rubin's Writ of Certiorari, letting the contempt order stand.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The facts are not in dispute. Rubin disobeyed a lawful order of the trial court. The appellate court sustained the trial court's order, but Rubin sought no further appeal.

Rubin contends he had only two choices, assist the client in committing perjury or withdraw as counsel. The Florida Bar submits that Rubin had other options, to wit:

1) Have client testify in narrative form:

 Refuse to have his client testify, as the client does not have a right to testify falsely;

3) Warn the client that if he should commit perjury, Rubin would be required to inform the court and Rubin could be called as a witness to impeach the client. This method could be used to deter the client from committing perjury.

Our system of justice cannot function if individuals are free to ignore court orders.

The Referee's finding of not guilty because he believes Rubin's motives were good, is no defense to failure to obey a court order.

Although mitigating circumstances are involved, a public reprimand is warranted in this case.

ARGUMENT

I. WHEN ORDERED BY A COURT TO CONTINUE REPRESENTATION OF A CLIENT, A LAWYER MUST CONTINUE THE REPRESENTATION, NOTWITHSTANDING THE LAWYER'S BELIEF THAT THE CLIENT WILL COMMIT PERJURY.

The Referee found, "that Rubin refused to obey a lawful order of the court is clear". (RR 3). Nevertheless, the Referee gave consideration to Rubin's motives, and he stated, the sum of Rubin's evidence, his testimony that he considered himself to be in a dilemma, and that he could not, with integrity, continue to represent his client, was credible and convincing. (RR. 3)

Because of the foregoing, the Referee recommended that Rubin be found not guilty. Apparently, Rubin convinced the Referee that he could not, with integrity, continue to represent his client.

It was Rubin's position, that if he were to continue his representation, he would have been in violation of the laws, as well as the Code of Professional Responsibility. According to Rubin, his choices were to withdraw or assist his client in committing perjury and be charged with ineffective assistance of counsel and violating the law and the ethical rules.

The Florida Bar submits that Rubin had several options available to him, and he was not limited to the choices mentioned above. Rubin could have followed the suggestion of the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Sanborn v. State</u>, **474** So.2d **309** (Fla. 3d DCA **1985)** by having Mr. Sanborn testify in the narrative. While Rubin considered having his client testify in narrative

form to be improper, thereby exposing him to prosecution and grievance proceedings, it is noted that, as a general rule, a person's good faith reliance on a court order is a complete defense to criminal prosecution. See footnote 4, <u>Rubin v. State</u>, **490** So.2d 1001 (Fla. 3d DCA **1986).** Likewise, it would be a defense to bar grievance proceedings. In addition, another option could be to refuse to have the client testify, as the client does not have the right to commit perjury. <u>U.S. V.</u> <u>Curtis</u>, 742 F.2d 1070 (7th Cir **1980)**, <u>Nix v. Whiteside</u>, 475 U.S. 157, **106** S.Ct. **988 (1986)**.

An additional suggestion would be to warn the client that if he should commit perjury, the lawyer would have to notify the judge. In this event, this would create a situation whereby the lawyer might be called as a witness to impeach the testimony of the client. Perhaps this information would encourage the client to change his mind about committing perjury. See Braccialarghe, <u>Client Perjury:</u> The Law in Florida, 12 Nova Law Review 707 at 734-736 (Spring 1988).

While Rubin had different choices on how to handle his client, who he says planned on committing perjury, he had no choice but to obey the court order directing him to continue his representation of Sanborn.

The primary issue to be considered in the brief is not how a lawyer should handle a situation concerning his client's

intention of committing perjury. The main issue is whether a lawyer has the right to disobey a court order because he believes the order erroneous.

This issue was thoroughly discussed in <u>Rubin v. State</u>, **490** So.2d 100 (Fla. 3d DCA **1986).** In that case, the Third District

Court of Appeal stated:

The reason behind the rule requiring obedience to court orders regardless of their alleged invalidity is that the need for obedience to a court order far outweighs any detriment to individuals who may be temporarily victimized by the order, even if erroneous.

In Seaboard Airline Ry. Co. v. Tampa Southern R. Co., 101 Fla.

468 at 476; 134 So. 529 at 533 (1931), the Court stated:

If a party can make himself a judge of the validity of orders which have been issued for the protection of property rights, and by his own act of disobedience can set them aside, then are the courts impotent, and what the constitution of the State ordains as the judicial power becomes a mere mockery.

The Florida Bar agrees with the views expressed in Rubin v.

State, at 1004, where the Court stated:

Our system of justice simply cannot function if individuals--however strong their views--are free to ignore Court orders. Therefore, that Rubin may believe that his position is virtuous and his disobedience moral--or that his view may some day in some other case, prevail--does nothing to excuse his refusal to comply with the court's order to proceed with the defense of Samborn.

Surely Rubin--one trained in the law should know that if persons may with impunity disobey the law it will not be long before their is no law left to obey. The evidence in this case is clear and the facts are not disputed, Rubin admittedly disobeyed an order of the court. (RR 3).

While Rubin may have believed that his "position was virtuous and his disobedience moral," it does not excuse his refusal to comply with the Court order.

Although the Referee believes that Rubin's "motive is central to this matter, since it bears on the issue of willfulness," (RR 3), it is the view of The Florida Bar that the Referee's finding in this regard is erroneous, as "motive" and "willfulness" are not relevant to the issue of whether a lawful order of a court has been disobeyed.

Although the civil rights marchers in Birmingham, Alabama had virtuous motives, the Supreme Court of the United States upheld their contempt convictions because they disobeyed a Court ordered injunction. <u>Walker v. City of Birmingham</u>, **388** U.S. 307, **87** S. Ct. 1824, 18 L.Ed 2d 1210 (1967). In that case, the Court stated:

One may sympathize with the petitioners' impatient commitment to their cause. But respect for judicial process is a small price to pay for the civilizing hand of law, which alone can give abiding meaning to constitutional freedom.

While some people might sympathize with Rubin's position concerning his refusal to represent a client he believes plans on committing perjury, there is no justification for Rubin's refusal to obey the lawful order of the Court.

The factual situation in this case makes it clear that to grant Rubin's request to withdraw as counsel would have been harmful to the orderly administration of justice. Rubin was the fourth attorney, and he petitioned the trial court just prior to jury selection to withdraw as defense counsel.

The trial court recognized that allowing Rubin to withdraw and appointing a fifth defense counsel would not alleviate the problem. If withdrawal were allowed everytime a lawyer was faced with an ethical disagreement with the accused, the ultimate result could be a perpetual cycle of eleventh-hour motions to withdraw and an unlimited number of continuances for the defendant. In addition, new counsel might fail to recognize the problem of fabricated testimony and false evidence would be presented to the Court. <u>Sanborn v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 309 at 314 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985).

When one considers the foregoing situation, it is apparent that the trial court had no alternative but to find Rubin guilty of contempt when he refused to obey the court's order. Also it is clear that Rubin's contempt constituted violations of the following Disciplinary Rules of the Code of Professional Responsibility: DR 1-102(A)(5), Conduct prejudicial to the Administration of Justice; DR 2-110(A)(1), a lawyer shall not withdraw from employment in a proceeding before a tribunal without its permission; DR 7-106(A), a lawyer shall not disregard a ruling of a

tribunal.

II. A PUBLIC REPRIMAND IS MORE APPROPRIATE THAN A PRIVATE REPRIMAND IN THIS CASE

Although the Bar Counsel requested the Referee to recommend a Private Reprimand for Rubin, the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar directed the Bar Counsel to petition for review, requesting that Rubin be found guilty and that he be given a public reprimand.

When Rubin failed to obey the original Order of the Court, denying his Motion to Withdraw, the Court gave Rubin time to file an appeal. This first failure to obey could be considered an open refusal to obey an order based on an assertion that no valid obligation existed. However, when the Third District Court of Appeal held that the trial Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Rubin's Motion to Withdraw, and when Rubin again disobeyed the Order (without appealing the Third District Court of Appeal decision), Rubin was in open defiance of the Court. This, in our view, was an abuse of the legal process.

According to Rule 6.22, of <u>Florida's Standards for</u> <u>Imposing Lawyer Sanctions</u>, suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knows that he is violating a Court Order and there is injury or potential interference with a legal proceeding. However, according to Rule 9.32(k), of <u>Florida's Standards</u> <u>for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions</u>, imposition of other penalties or sanctions are considered mitigating circumstances.

Therefore, since Rubin served thirty days in jail for his disobedience, the Bar considers it a mitigating factor. Accordingly, the Bar is requesting Rubin be disciplined by a Public Reprimand rather than a suspension.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority, The Florida Bar respectfully submits that the Referee's recommendation of not guilty is erroneous and unjustified. Accordingly, it is respectfully requested that this Court find Ellis *S*. Rubin guilty of violating the Disciplinary Rules, as shown in the Complaint and that he be given a Public Reprimand which should be published in the <u>Southern Reporter</u>.

In addition, it is respectfully requested that Ellis S. Rubin be charged with the following costs, which were expended by The Florida Bar, and that execution should issue:

Administrative Costs at Grievance Committee Level and Referee level (Rule 3-7.5(k) (5)	\$ 300.00
<u>Court Reporter Costs</u> : Grievance Committee Hearing (12/07/87) Referee Hearing 9/2/88	\$ 75.00 400.25
<u>Travel Expenses</u> : Referee Hearing (9/2/88) and Meeting with Referee (Bar Counsel and Respondent's Counsel 9/9/88)	<u>\$ 42.15</u>
Total Costs:	\$ 817.40