ESR:et

IN THE SUPREME COURTOF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

VS.

ELLIS S. RUBIN,

Supreme 'Court Case No.: 72,255

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, ELLIS S. RUBIN

(On Appeal from the Report of Referee)

RUBIN, RUBIN & FUQUA, P.A. Attorneys for Respondent 265 N.E. 26th Terrace Miami, FL 33137 305/576-5600 (Miami) 305/524-5600 (Brwd.)

I, MARK RUBIN and GUY BENNETT RUBIN

For the Firm

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

While the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit and the Third District Court of Appeal had the apparent authority and jurisdiction to issue an Order to Rubin compelling him to allow a defendant-client to narrate perjury during a jury trial, all the while pretending it was not happening, they should not have issued or approved such an Order because it directly violated and contravened Rubin's Oath as an Attorney, The Integration Rule of The Florida Bar, the Code of Professional Responsibility and prior Supreme Court of Florida decisions.

The Florida Bar now seeks to punish a member of the Bar for refusing to violate his Oath, The Integration Rule, the Code and prior Supreme Court decisions -- all of which prohibit an attorney from presenting or participating in dishonesty, fraud, deceit and perjury.

The Circuit Court and Third District Court of Appeal "formula" allowed and in fact ordered perjury and jury deceit, a course of conduct previously forbidden by Florida law-condemned by the American Bar Association — and recently prohibited by the United States Supreme Court case of Nix v. Whiteside, 106 S.Ct.988 (1986).

Our system of justice cannot function if lawyers are jailed and subsequently charged by The Florida Bar with unethical conduct for refusing to present perjury.

The Referee's finding of not guilty should be affirmed because Respondent did all he could to avoid violating any ethical code or requirement and his actions were justified and correct under the circumstances, since no willfulness to violate his Oath or the Code was ever shown.

Only the Supreme Court of Florida can set the record straight and bring Florida back to making a jury trial a search for the truth.

ARGUMENT

I. AN ATTORNEYS OATH, THE INTEGRATION RULE, THE CODE OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY AND FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE LAW IS LAW THAT MUST BE OBEYED BY PRACTICING FLORIDA LAWYERS. RUBIN HAD TO CHOOSE BETWEEN THESE AND AN ORDER OF A JUDGE TO ALLOW PERJURED TESTIMONY AND JURY DECEIT. RUBIN CHOSE ETHICS AND NOW THE BAR WANTS TO PUNISH HIM.

This case did not begin in April of 1985 when Ellis Rubin moved to withdraw as attorney for a First Degree Murder defendant who had confided an intent to testffy falsely at his upcoming jury trial in order to implicate an innocent person. At that time and place, Respondent was the product of our system of justice, his Oath of Admission, The Integration Rule of The Florida Bar, the Code of Professional Responsibility, decisions of the Florida Supreme Court and his perception of his role as a citizen and an attorney.

Before being admitted to the Bar in 1951, Respondent graduated from Holy Cross College in Massachusetts as an Ensign in the U.S. Navy during World War 11. His training there included obedience to an honor code that commanded: "A midshipman will not lie, cheat, or steal .and he shall not tolerate it in others." (T-40) And, at T-102, Rubin confessed belief in the Ten Commandments, the ninth of which states: "Thou shall not bear false witness." Three chapters later in Exodus, we find this explanation: "Thou shalt not raise a false report: put not thine hand with the wicked to be an unrighteous witness."

Augustine warned us 1,500 years ago: "When regard for truth has broken down or even slightly weakened, all things remain doubtful." And it was Sophocles who thought that, "'Tis better to fail with honor than to succeed by fraud."

Eight centuries after Christ, Alfred the Great, King of the West Saxons, implored his followers: "In the first place we enjoin you, as a matter of supreme importance, that every man shall abide carefully by his oath and his pledge." Skipping to the year 1275, the very first English Statute regulating the practice of law dealt with deceit upon the Court: "If any... Pleader... do any manner of Deceit or Collusion in the King's Court or consent (unto it) in deceit of the Court (or) to beguile the Court..., he shall be imprisoned for a Year and a Day, and from thenceforth shall not be heard to plead... in (that) Court for any Man."

A few years later, in 1307 England, it was demanded that a lawyer put on no false evidence "nor consent to any such." Then, in the Colonies, a Massachusetts lawyer's oath in 1701 demanded: "You shall do no falsehood, nor consent to any to be done in the court, and if you know of any to be done you shall give knowledge thereof to the Justices of the Court, or some of them, that it may be reformed."

It was George Washington who observed that, "The administration of justice is the firmest pillar of government."

Daniel Webster put it a little differently: "Justice is the greatest interest of man." Alabama was the first to adopt a

Code of Ethics in 1887. It had a canon: "Client is not the Keeper of the Attorney's Conscience." It provided that "the attorney's office does not destroy the man's accountability to the Creator." In 1908 the American Bar Association adopted Canon 22: "The conduct of the lawyer before the Court and with other lawyers should be characterized by candor and fairness," and Canon 37 required the lawyer to reveal any announced intention of his client to commit a crime.

Respondent was sworn into The Integrated Bar of Florida in 1951, at which time he was required to solemnly swear that, "I will employ for the purpose of maintaining the causes confided to me such means only as are consistent with truth and honor, and will never seek to mislead the Judge or jury by any artifice or false statement of fact or law." The Oath of Admission to the Bar, quoted above, "should ever control the lawyer in the practice of his profession"; and further that "for the wilful violation of which disbarment may be had." (From the preliminary sentence to the Oath).

In its Opinion, <u>Petition of Florida State Bar</u>
<u>Association</u>, 40 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1949), establishing The
Integrated Bar, The Florida Supreme Court placed a lawyer's
responsibility to the public above his responsibility to clients.
On page 908, we find:

It is hardly necessary to assert that the bar has a responsibility to the public that is unique and different in degree from that exacted of the members of other professions. This difference is symbolized in the requirement that every lawyer subscribe to an oath

to support, protect and defend the constitution of the United States when he is admitted to practice. On the theory that he is such an important factor in the administration of justice this Court has held that a lawyer's responsibility to the public rises above his responsibility to his client. The very nature of our democratic process imposes on him the responsibility to uphold democratic concepts regardless of how they affect the case in hand.

In adopting the Preamble to The Integration Rule of The Florida Bar, The Florida Supreme Court mandated to every member of The Florida Bar that The Integration Rule is law to be obeyed by every attorney all the time as an officer of Florida's courts. In addition, the same Integration Rule requires that all Florida lawyers support and obey "the Constitution and the laws of this state and of the United States." Finally, The Integration Rule requires that all lawyers are charged "with the duty to observe the high standards of the profession."

Article 10 of The Integration Rule mandates that The Code of Professional Responsibility is to "constitute a code of ethics applicable to members of The Florida Bar." Article 11 of The Integration Rule provides that every Bar member is within the jurisdiction of The Florida Supreme Court and "is charged with notice and held to know the provisions of this Rule and the standards of ethical and professional conduct prescribed by this Court." Section 11.02(3)(a) of The Integration Rule makes the commission of "any act contrary to honesty, justice or good morals... a cause for discipline."

The Florida Supreme Court, in 1970, adopted and made into law to be obeyed by all Florida lawyers, The Code of

Professional Responsibility. The Preamble to The Code orders lawyers "to maintain the highest standards of ethical conduct." And it states that "fundamental ethical principles are always present to guide" lawyers... and that lawyers must strive "for the highest possible degree of ethical conduct." Finally, the Preamble says that these ethical principles "permit of no compromise."

The Code of Professional Responsibility defines
Ethical Considerations as representing a body of principles "upon which the lawyer can rely for guidance in many specific situations;" while Disciplinary Rules "are mandatory in character" and state a minimum level of conduct below which no lawyer can fall without disciplinary action. Ethical Consideration 7-1 of The Code of Professional Responsibility was in effect during April and September of 1985 (When Rubin respectfully declined to present perjury):

"The duty of a lawyer, both to his client and the legal system, is to represent his client zealously within the bounds of the law, which includes Disciplinary Rules and enforceable professional regulations." (Emphasis added)

Ethical Consideration 7-6 states that a lawyer "may not do anything furthering the creation or preservation of false evidence." Ethical Consideration 7-26: "The law and Disciplinary Rules prohibit the use of fraudulent, false, or perjured testimony or evidence. A lawyer who knowingly participates in introduction of such testimony or evidence is

subject to discipline." This EC goes on to say that even though a client desires to present evidence, the lawyer cannot do so if "he knows, or from facts within his knowledge should know, that such testimony or evidence is false, fraudulent, or perjured." Ethical Consideration 8-5 states that "Fraudulent, deceptive, or otherwise illegal conduct by a participant in a proceeding before a tribunal... is inconsistent with fair administration of justice, and it should never be participated in or condoned by lawyers." Ethical Consideration 9-6 is that "Every lawyer owes a solemn duty to uphold the integrity and honor of his profession: to encourage respect for the law and for the courts and the judges thereof; to observe The Code Professional Responsibility: ... to conduct himself so as to reflect credit on the legal profession and to inspire the confidence, respect, and trust of his clients and of the public: and to strive to avoid not only professional impropriety but also the appearance of impropriety."

Disciplinary Rule 1-102 of The Code of Professional Responsibility was in effect during April and September of 1985 and it states that "A lawyer shall not violate a Disciplinary Rule: Circumvent a Disciplinary Rule through actions of another: Engage in illegal conduct involving moral turpitude; Engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation: and Engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice." Disciplinary Rule 7-101 allows a lawyer, in his representation of a client, to "Refuse to aid or

participate in conduct that he believes to be unlawful, even though there is some support for an argument that the conduct is legal." Disciplinary Rule 7-102 commands that a lawyer shall not "Knowingly use perjured testimony or false evidence; or Participate in creation or preservation of evidence when he knows or it is obvious that the evidence is false; or Counsel or assist his client in conduct that the lawyer knows to be illegal or fraudulent; or Knowingly engage in other illegal conduct or conduct contrary to a Disciplinary Rule. Disciplinary Rule 2-110(B) requires mandatory withdrawal when a lawyer is representing a client before a tribunal if "He knows or it is obvious that his continued employment will result in violation of a Disciplinary Rule." Disciplinary Rule 2-110(C) permits a lawyer to withdraw if such requested action is because his client "Personally seeks to pursue an illegal course of conduct, or Insists that the lawyer pursue a course of conduct that is illegal, or that is prohibited under the Disciplinary Rules, or if His continued employment is likely to result in a violation of a Disciplinary Rule."

In 1957, The Florida Supreme Court decided Russ v.

State, 95 So.2d 594, which has not been overruled. At Page 599
thereof, the court states that an attorney "is first and foremost an officer of this Court and the trial court. His sworn duty as an attorney requires that he be as much dedicated to finding the truth as are the courts he serves. Above all else, he owes to the courts the duty of good faith and honorable

dealing."

In 1960, The Florida Supreme Court decided <u>Dodd v.</u>

<u>The Florida Bar</u>, 118 So.2d 17, which has not been overruled. At Page 19 thereof, the court states:

"When an attorney adds or allows false testimony to be cast into the crucible from which the truth is to be refined and taken to be weighed on the scales of justice, he makes impure the product and makes it impossible for the scales to balance.

No breach of professional ethics, or of the law, is more harmful to the administration of justice or more hurtful to the public appraisal of the legal profession that the knowledgeable use by an attorney of false testimony in the judicial process. When it is done it deserves the harshest penalty.

* * * *

It is essential to the well-being of the profession that every lawyer square his personal and professional conduct by the precepts of the Code of Ethics."

According to The Florida Supreme Court, in The
Florida Bar v. Pearce, 356 So.2d 317 (Fla. 1978), an attorney who agrees with his clients to let them commit perjury at a court proceeding violates Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A) of The Code and Article X1, Rule 11.02(3)(a) of The Integration Rule.

In 1980, The Florida Supreme Court in <u>The Florida</u>

<u>Bar v. Moses</u>, 380 So.2d 412, stated that "the single most important concern in the Court's defining and regulating the practice of law is the protection of the public from incompetent, unethical or irresponsible representation." And that once

admitted to practice, a person must continue to adhere to "strict standards of competence and ethical responsibility," or suffer "the disciplinary powers residing in this Court by constitutional mandate."

In 1976, the Second District Court' of Appeals again showed the way in <u>Easley v. State</u>, 334 So.2d 630. Attorney Easley asked to withdraw from a criminal case. He was refused; whereupon his client agreed to sign an affidavit in support of a renewed request, Easley was excused from representation, but then cited for contempt for procuring the client's affidavit which embarrassed the Judge. At the hearing, Easley testified "that he was ethically bound to pursue this case as he did." Found guilty, he appealed. The 2nd DCA exonerated:

"..., the undisputed facts of the instant case will not support a finding of a willful intent to commit a contemptuous act or interfere with the orderly administration of justice, There is no finding, nor indeed on the evidence could there be, that appellant did not in good faith feel his inadequacy to handle felonies. Moreover, in accord with the ethical obligations of an attorney, we think it was incumbent upon appellant to communicate his feelings of lack of competence to the defendant Gulvin."

This case holds that when the attorney's refusal is required by ethical obligations, it is not contempt; certainly not if willful intent to interfere with justice is not found, nor bad faith exhibited.

The First District Court of Appeal, in Ramey v. Thomas, Fla. App., 382 So.2d 78 (1980), found it necessary to observe that, "an attorney is first an officer of the court, bound to

serve the ends of justice with openness, candor, and fairness to all. This duty must be served even when it appears in conflict with a client's interests." (Emphasized)

1981 saw an attorney in the Second District freed from a Circuit Court contempt citation in <u>Thomson v. State</u>, 390 So.2d 514. In so holding, the court found that the attorney was not guilty of intentionally committing:

"An act which is calculated to embarrass, hinder, or obstruct a Court in the administration of justice, or which is calculated to lessen its authority or dignity constitutes a contempt.., Intent is an essential element of contempt."

And in 1983 the First District Court of Appeal held, in <u>Sewell v. State</u>, 433 So.2d 164, that in order to find an attorney guilty of direct criminal contempt, it "requires some willful act or omission calculated to hinder the orderly functions of the court... if a finding of intent is supported by the facts."

Based on all of the foregoing, Rubin chose not to violate these precedents, commands, cases, common sense and integrity of the system. There is not a scintilla of evidence that Rubin willfully intended to disobey any provision of law or the ethics code, let alone clear and convincing proof thereof. On the contrary, all of the evidence shows that he tried desperately not to violate the rules, Some excerpts from his sworn testimony follow, From Pages 25, 26 and 27 of the Trial Transcript:

"Q Now, did you consider the consequences, not so

much of the discipline that might be imposed upon you, but the fact that what effect your actions would have on the entire legal system? For example, what would happen if every lawyer was to decide on his own what court order to obey, and what court order to not obey?

Α

I didn't decide anything on my own. When a man makes a decision in the puzzling predicament that I was in, a man makes that decision based on all of the training that he's had, all of the life that he has led, and all of the rules and regulations of God and man, but he especially, of the Supreme Court of Florida. An attorney has a real critical position in our system of justice. He's supposed to be a minister of the truth, and when a judge said, you will allow perjury and pretend to the jury that it isn't happening, I couldn't do that.

Now you've asked me if I considered what effect my decision would have on lawyers everywhere. Yes, I did, Paul. And you know what I thought? I thought that here's an attorney who was willing to stand up for the truth in a courtroom. Here's an attorney who is willing to say, my client wants to commit perjury, I can't go along. I think the public would applaud an attorney who went that far. I think that the role of attorney in our system of justice has been so disrespected by the public that today every lawyer in

the United States is under attack for being a lawyer because they are considered to be unethical, greedy, and dishonest. I know, because I ran into it for 38 years and I decided this time the State has given me the opportunity to make a statement. And the statement is that a lie, is a lie, is a lie. Even when a judge orders you to allow a lie, you should stand up and say, Your Honor, I cannot do so because you are ordering me to do something that the Supreme Court has prohibited me from doing, so I thought that what I was doing would be joined by the Florida Bar. I thought that you fellows would file an amicus curiae brief in my behalf because whether it's Ellis Rubin or Joe Jones makes no difference. A lawyer was standing up in open court and saying, I'm willing to go to jail because I will not present perjury to a jury and pretend that it's not happening."

From Pages 41 and 42:

- "a Well, let's go into the Code of Ethics. What year did you get admitted to the Florida Bar, and what did you have to do in order to get admitted to the Florida Bar?
- A 1951, and I had to take an oath and then be sworn in.
- Q Referring to Respondent's Composite Exhibit, Your
 Honor, I'll hand Ellis Rubin the Oath of Admission and

ask him to relate which items of the Oath of Admission are - which you swore to uphold in 1.951, are pertinent to the facts which relate to this case.

The pertinent sections are the general principles which shall ever control the lawyer in the practice of his profession are clearly set forth in the following Oath of Admission to the Bar, which they are sworn on admission to obey and for the wilful violation of which disbarments may be had. So I was told right from the start that you've got to obey these and if you don't, you can be disbarred. I do solemnly swear, blah, blah, blah, I will employ for the purpose of maintaining the causes confided to me, such means only as are the consistent with truth, and honor, and will never seek to mislead the judge or jury by any artifice or false statements of fact or law.

Excuse me, my voice is breaking up a little bit, but that's the one that I was confronted with when the judge and the Appellate Court said, you must allow your client to commit perjury and pretend to the jury that it isn't happening. I couldn't do it, Your Honor, and still obey that oath. And I told the judge, why are you making me violate the oath?"

From Pages 58 and 59:

"a Now, in addition to the rules governing attorneys and to the Florida statutes, did you look at case law to determine your position, the validity of your position, or what your position should be in terms of how your conduct should be facing this court order?

Α

The Integration Rule and the Code require that a lawyer shall keep abreast of the Code of Ethics and all case law and the Supreme Court decisions, and I read before going before that judge, I read the 1957 case of Russ versus State, which we've included in the packet at page 599, Your Honor, the Supreme Courts states, an attorney is first and foremost an officer of this court and the trial court. His sworn duty as an attorney requires that he be as much dedicated to finding the truth as are the courts he serves. Above all else he owes to the court the duty of good faith and honorable dealing, unquote.

I felt that presenting perjured testimony, knowing that it was going to be perjured, was not dealing in good faith and was not finding the truth. I felt that an attorney is, according to the Supreme Court of Florida, a minister of justice. He's supposed to present the truth to a tribunal, whether he's defense attorney or prosecutor. I learned and I felt that justice is the greatest interest of man.

What is justice? Justice is giving each his due according to law before a fair tribunal, that's justice. American justice is founded on the truth. A

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